#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

THE CINCINNATI INSURANCE COMPANY,	SCA EFiled: Feb 03 2023  Upon Original Jurisdiction 01:57PM EST  In Prohibition Transaction ID 69070161
Petitioner,	) No
v.	
THE HONORABLE JASON A. CUOMO, JUDGE, THE CIRCUIT COURT OF OHIO COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA	
Respondent,	
V.	)
GRAE-CON CONSTRUCTION, INC,	
Respondent.	)

### PETITION FOR WRIT OF PROHIBITION

THE CINCINNATI INSURANCE COMPANY

BY COUNSEL

Trisha A. Gill, Esquire W.Va. State Bar. No. 12463 LITCHFIELD CAVO LLP Two Gateway Center 603 Stanwix Street, 10th Floor Pittsburgh, PA 15222 Telephone: (412) 291-8242

Telephone: (412) 291-8242 Email: gill@litchfieldcavo.com

#

#### III. QUESTION PRESENTED

- Whether the Circuit Court committed clear legal error in denying Cincinnati's
   Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Amended Complaint:
  - a. Whether the Circuit Court erred in determining it had personal jurisdiction over Cincinnati in this case;
  - b. Whether the Circuit Court erred in determining that venue was proper in West Virginia;
  - c. Whether the Circuit Court erred in determining that the forum was appropriate under forum non conveniens; and

d. Whether the Circuit Court erred in determining that the instant action not be dismissed despite pendency of a prior declaratory judgment action on the same question filed by Cincinnati in Butler County, Ohio prior to Grae-Con's initiation of this suit in West Virginia.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Grae-Con initiated the instant action in Ohio County, West Virginia on October 11, 2022, seeking declaratory judgment with regard to Cincinnati's refusal to defend and indemnify Grae-Con as an additional insured in a construction arbitration case. Grae-Con's original Complaint was not served on Cincinnati. Grae-Con filed an Amended Complaint on November 14, 2022, which was served on Cincinnati via the West Virginia Secretary of State on November 16, 2022. Cincinnati's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Amended Complaint was filed on December 13, 2022. See Appendix [hereinafter "App."] at 1.

Grae-Con's Amended Complaint asserted that as general contractor, Grae-Con subcontracted with Mohawk on **September 20, 2011**, for Mohawk to provide roofing and siding services in accordance with architectural plans to construct a distribution center for the OCDA in Triadelphia, West Virginia. *Id.* at 10, 66. The Subcontract included an indemnification provision and furthermore required Mohawk to maintain liability insurance naming Grae-Con as an additional insured. *Id.* at 68. The Prime Contract between Grae-Con and OCDA, which was executed on September 26, 2011, **six days after the Subcontract** was executed, purportedly bound Mohawk to all obligations that Grae-Con had assumed to the OCDA in kind, including the various insurance and indemnification requirements therein. *Id.* at 32.

Grae-Con admitted in its Amended Complaint that Mohawk complied with its contractual obligations by producing a Certificate of Liability Insurance naming Grae-Con as an additional insured under a pre-existing policy of insurance through Cincinnati, which was effective from June

8, 2010, through June 15, 2013 [hereinafter "the Policy"]. *Id.* at 9-10, 13. Grae-Con further acknowledged that Mohawk completed work on the project in question in June 2012. *Id.* at 13.

On August 31, 2021, the OCDA initiated arbitration proceedings against Grae-Con based on allegations that the distribution center "suffered from moisture condensation and roof leaks." *Id.* at 10, 75. The OCDA requested the hearing take place in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. *Id.* at 77. Grae-Con claimed that these allegations related solely to the work of its roofing subcontractor Mohawk, whereby Mohawk violated specific installation requirements for the roof and caused the damages alleged by the OCDA. *Id.* at 10. Grae-Con further asserted that OCDA's allegations were "squarely within Mohawk's scope of work set forth in the Subcontract and [were] subject to the indemnification provisions in Article 13 of the Subcontract." *Id.* at 11. As a result of the OCDA's allegations, on September 24, 2021, Grae-Con initiated an arbitration proceeding against Mohawk seeking contractual indemnity and also requesting the hearing take place in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. *Id.* at 11, 85. Upon information and belief, at some point, the OCDA/Grae-Con arbitration and the Grae-Con/Mohawk arbitration were consolidated to be heard in West Virginia. *Id.* at 11.

On January 4, 2022, Grae-Con contacted Cincinnati directly requesting defense and indemnification against the OCDA's arbitration claims pursuant to the terms of the Subcontract, the Prime Contract, and the Policy. *Id.* at 11, 138. On April 12, 2022, after exchanging correspondence on several occasions, Cincinnati issued a formal letter rejecting Grae-Con's tender for defense and indemnification as an additional insured in the AAA arbitration brought by the OCDA. *Id.* at 12, 144. Cincinnati's rejection letter clearly indicated that the additional insurance coverage under the Policy did not extend beyond the completed operations of its insured, Mohawk and, alternatively, that such coverage would not apply regardless, due to the contractual liability

exclusion of the Policy. *Id.* at 144. Grae-Con's Amended Complaint sets forth various provisions of the Policy in question raised by Cincinnati in its tender rejection letter to be interpreted by the Circuit Court in determining Cincinnati's contractual obligations to Grae-Con. *See generally id.* at 13-18.

As stated above, Grae-Con initiated the instant suit on October 11, 2022, at 10:59 p.m. However, by this time, Cincinnati had already filed a declaratory judgment against Grae-Con in Butler County, Ohio [hereinafter "the Ohio case"], seeking the Court's interpretation of the same factual circumstances and same policy language at issue in Grae-Con's Amended Complaint. *Id.* at 339. The Ohio case was filed on October 11, 2022, at 4:44 p.m., nearly six hours before Grae-Con filed suit in Ohio County, West Virginia. Cincinnati simultaneously served a copy of its Complaint in the Ohio case on Grae-Con's counsel via E-mail at the time of filing, hours before Grae-Con filed in this County, and requested acceptance of service of the same. Cincinnati's Complaint in the Ohio case specifically identified the same Policy provisions subsequently placed at issue in Grae-Con's West Virginia Complaint and Amended Complaint.

On December 13, 2022, Cincinnati filed a timely Motion to Dismiss Grae-Con's Amended Complaint in this case based on the following arguments: (1) Ohio County lacks personal jurisdiction over Cincinnati in this case because the underlying facts related to the issuance of the insurance policy at issue did not take place in West Virginia; (2) West Virginia is the improper venue to hear the claims of an Ohio corporation against another Ohio corporation under W.V. Code §56-1-1(c) where none of the underlying facts related to the insurance policy took place in West Virginia; (3) Grae-Con's claims should be dismissed pursuant to forum non conveniens; (4) Grae-Con's claims must be dismissed due to pendency of the prior action in Butler County, Ohio. *Id.* at 313.

All briefs on Cincinnati's Motion to Dismiss were submitted by January 4, 2023. On January 5, 2023, at 7:55 a.m., the Court entered an Order denying Cincinnati's Motion to Dismiss in its entirety. *Id.* at 702. To avoid the waiver of any rights available to review the Circuit Court's Order, Cincinnati has simultaneously filed a Notice of Appeal under the collateral order doctrine.

#### V. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

The Circuit Court's opinion denying Cincinnati's Motion to Dismiss, which largely adopts the factual and legal misrepresentations asserted by Grae-Con, clearly disregards applicable West Virginia law and encroaches on the duties of the Ohio Court in finding that Cincinnati is not entitled to its requested relief – namely dismissal of Grae-Con's Amended Complaint.

First, the Circuit Court erred in ruling that it had personal jurisdiction over Cincinnati in this case where the Policy in question, not the Certificate of Liability Insurance, was formed over a year before Mohawk's involvement in the OCDA project and where Grae-Con's claims did not give rise to or even relate to Cincinnati's alleged business conduct in West Virginia.

Second, the Circuit Court erred in determining that venue in West Virginia was proper where both Grae-Con and Cincinnati are nonresident corporations and where the underlying facts of this case pertaining to the execution and interpretation of the Policy in question did not occur in West Virginia.

Third, the Circuit Court erred in refusing to dismiss Grae-Con's Amended Complaint for forum non conveniens based on its unwarranted and unsupported legal conclusion that the OCDA would be joined as a necessary party in the Ohio case under Ohio law, that the Ohio Court would not have jurisdiction over the OCDA under Ohio law, and that West Virginia law, not Ohio law, would be applied to interpret the Policy language in question

Finally, the Circuit Court erred in refusing to dismiss Grae-Con's Amended Complaint due to the prior pendency of Cincinnati's declaratory judgment action in Butler County, Ohio. The Court reasoned that the OCDA was surely to be added as a necessary party to the Ohio case, yet contradictorily refused to dismiss Grae-Con's Amended Complaint due to pendency of the Ohio action because the OCDA is not currently a party to that action. Moreover, the Court had previously found that both the contractual and extra-contractual claims set forth in Grae-Con's Amended Complaint were all related to the interpretation of Cincinnati's duties under the Policy, which it claims occurred in West Virginia. Nonetheless, the Circuit Court refused to defer to the prior pending Ohio case because it found the claims raised in Grae-Con's Amended Complaint were distinct from the policy interpretation placed at issue in Ohio, ignoring the fact that Grae-Con has not yet filed an Answer or Counterclaims to Cincinnati's Complaint in Ohio.

For each and all of these reasons, this Honorable Court should issue a Writ of Prohibition as to the Circuit Court's improper denial of Cincinnati's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Amended Complaint.

#### VI. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument in this matter under Rule 19 will aid this Court in its decision process. This case involves issues of settled law that are narrow in scope and involves the Circuit Court's clear legal error in applying that settled law. W. Va. R. App. P. 19(a)(1) and (4).

#### VII. ARGUMENT

A. This Honorable Court Should Grant The Requested Writ As To The Circuit Court's Denial Of Cincinnati's Motion To Dismiss For Lack Of Personal Jurisdiction.

West Virginia Courts have adopted a two-prong approach for determining whether jurisdiction exists over a foreign person or corporation: First, the court must "determine whether

the defendant's actions satisfy our personal jurisdiction statutes", and second, "whether the defendant's contacts with the forum state satisfy due process." *Lane v. Boston Scientific Corp.*, 481 S.E.2d 753, 756 (W. Va. 1996). The Circuit Court improperly adopted all faulty factual and legal conclusions asserted by Grae-Con in finding that it had personal jurisdiction over Cincinnati in this case.

# i. The Circuit Court improperly determined it had jurisdiction over Cincinnati under West Virginia's long-arm statute.

The sole provision of West Virginia's long-arm statute under which the Circuit Court found personal jurisdiction over non-resident Cincinnati in this case was by "contracting to insure any person, property, or risk located within this state **at the time of contracting.**" W. V. Code § 56-3-33(a)(7) (emphasis added). The Circuit Court determined that because "Cincinnati enforced and issued a Certificate of Liability Insurance insuring risk located in Triadelphia, West Virginia . . . [it had] engaged in 'contracting to insure any person, property or risk located within [West Virginia] at the time of contracting,' thereby . . . establishing personal jurisdiction." App. at 712. (citing W.Va. Code § 53-3-33(a)(7). Such finding is clearly erroneous for two reasons: (1) the issuance of the Certificate of Liability Insurance did not constitute the formation of a separate contract to insure any person, property, or risk in West Virginia, and (2) the Policy at issue, which is the actual contract Grae-Con alleges Cincinnati breached, was entered into over a year before Grae-Con subcontracted with Mohawk for the OCDA project.

At the heart of the Circuit Court's erroneous legal conclusion as to personal jurisdiction is its wholly inaccurate factual and legal finding that the Certificate of Liability Insurance provided

9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Circuit Court did not accept any other basis for jurisdiction under the West Virginia long-arm statute. The Circuit Court specifically stated that "Grae-Con [did] not proffer that personal jurisdiction is satisfied by way of W. Va. Code §56-3-33(a)(1) in this case", which pertains to jurisdiction for "transacting business in" West Virginia. *See* App. at 713; W.V. Code 56-3-33(a)(1).

by Mohawk to Grae-Con was "endorsed and issued by" Cincinnati as a separate contact to insure the OCDA project in Triadelphia, West Virginia. App. at 705. However, such conclusion ignores the plain language of the Certificate as well as West Virginia jurisprudence on the purpose and intent of such certificates.

The plain language of the Certificate in question explicitly establishes that it is not a separate contract issued by Cincinnati for insuring a property located in West Virginia. Rather, the Producer of the Certificate is unambiguously identified as Mohawk's insurance agent Huntington Insurance, Inc., which is based out of Westerville, Ohio. *See* App. at 74. Moreover, per the Policy declarations page, Mohawk first procured the Policy in 2010 through a Huntington Insurance office in Pennsylvania. *See id.* at 149. Cincinnati is referenced in the Certificate only as the "Insurer(s) affording coverage". *See id.* at 74. Additionally, the document plainly states:

THE CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMNED, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

*Id.* (emphasis added). There is simply no language in the Certificate by which the Circuit Court could have concluded that it was "endorsed or issued" by Cincinnati as an independent operating insurance contract wholly separate from the Policy already in affect at the time the Certificate was issued and under which Grae-Con now seeks coverage.

In the same sense, the Circuit Court's finding that this Certificate constituted a separate insurance contract made at the time Huntington issued it is contrary to clear West Virginia law. The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has held that "a certificate of insurance is evidence of insurance coverage, and is not a separate and distinct contract for insurance." *Marlin* 

v. Wetzel Cnty. Bd. of Educ., 569 S.E.2d 462, 472 (W.Va. 2002). The Marlin Court reasoned that "a certificate of insurance is a form that is completed by an insurance broker at the request of an insurance policyholder . . . [to] evidenc[e] the fact that an insurance policy has been written and includes a statement of the coverage of the policy in general terms." Id. at 470 (citing Black Law Dictionary (5th Ed. 1979)) (emphasis added). As such, the Marlin Court determined that the certificate of insured was "not a part of the insurance contract." Id. Contrary to the Circuit Court's mischaracterization of the Certificate, this Court has previously and clearly recognized that a certificate of liability insurance does not constitute a separate insurance contract, nor is it is necessarily endorsed or issued by an insurance carrier.

In the absence of any case law that supplants the plain language of the Certificate or the this Court's characterization of a certificate of liability insurance generally, it was clear legal error for the Circuit Court to use the Certificate of Liability Insurance issued by Huntington to Mohawk on a pre-existing Cincinnati policy as a basis to establish personal jurisdiction under Section 7 of the West Virginia long-arm statute.

Where the Certificate of Liability Insurance issued by Huntington Insurance to Mohawk evidencing possession of coverage for the OCDA project is not a separate insurance contract, the only way to establish personal jurisdiction in this case would be if the Cincinnati Policy under which Grae-Con now seeks relief was formed for the specific purpose of insuring the OCDA project at the time of its inception. By all parties' own admissions, there is no factual or legal basis to conclude as much. It is undisputed that the Mohawk general liability Policy which is the subject of this action, incepted on **June 8, 2010**. *See* App. at 149. Mohawk did not contract with Grae-Con to perform work in West Virginia until **September 20, 2011**, over a year later. *See id.* at 66. Therefore, there is no basis to infer that Mohawk or Cincinnati had any expectation that they were

contracting to insure work at the OCDA site in West Virginia "at the time of contracting" in June 2010.

In addition to improperly concluding that jurisdiction was established under Section 7 of the long-arm statute, the Circuit Court further erred in determining that "Grae-Con's coverage and bad faith claims as set forth in the Amended Complaint stem directly from Cincinnati's conduct in West Virginia" because the OCDA project was located in West Virginia, and the underlying arbitrations are taking place in West Virginia. *See* App. at 712. Such improper and illogical conclusion underlies the entirety of the Circuit Court's denial of Cincinnati's Motion to Dismiss. In particular, the Circuit Court impermissibly strained to find jurisdiction by connecting Cincinnati's alleged conduct in West Virginia in 2022 to the issuance of an Ohio insurance policy to a Pennsylvania corporation in 2010, which was over a year before any insured was even involved in the West Virginia project.

The West Virginia long arm statute is clear that when jurisdiction exists over a foreign entity pursuant to that statute, "only a cause of action arising from or growing out of one or more of the [specified acts] may be asserted against [it]." W.V. Code §56-3-33(b). The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has agreed that where "all actions relating to the cause of action took place outside the State of West Virginia . . . and the only contacts between the State of West Virginia, and each of the defendants [were] incidental and unrelated in any way, to the underlying cause of action," then the plaintiff has "fail[ed] to establish jurisdiction, pursuance to W. Va. Code 56-3-33." *Lane*, 481 S.E.2d at 764 (affirming trial court's dismissal for lack of personal jurisdiction over foreign corporate defendant where all activity by defendant in West Virginia was wholly unrelated to underlying allegations of plaintiff's complaint).

Here, Grae-Con's Amended Complaint sets forth claims for declaratory judgment, breach of contract, bad faith, and unfair trade practices, all of which stem directly from Cincinnati's refusal to accept Grae-Con's tender in defending the OCDA's claims at arbitration. As stated above, the Court inaccurately found that these claims stemmed from Cincinnati's conduct in West Virginia because it had "insured Mohawk and Grae-Con specifically for the Project in West Virginia", despite the Policy in question having been in effect for over a year before Mohawk's involvement in the OCDA Project. See App. at 712. For the reasons set forth more fully above, the Circuit Court's conclusion is contrary to the plain language of the Certificate as well as West Virginia law. Moreover, the Circuit Court improperly found that the underlying facts of this case also related to Cincinnati's conduct in West Virginia merely because it agreed to provide a defense to Mohawk in the arbitration brought by Grae-Con there. See id. Such conclusion ignores the fact admitted in Grae-Con's Amended Complaint that it initiated its proceedings against Mohawk in Mohawk's home state of Pennsylvania, not West Virginia. See id. at 85. To the extent that the location of the underlying arbitration is even relevant to a court's consideration of jurisdiction, it must be acknowledged that Grae-Con initiated its proceedings against Mohawk seeking indemnity under the Policy in question in Pennsylvania, not West Virginia.

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