IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

NO. 23-67

SCA EFiled: Mar 06 2023

01:57PM EST

Transaction ID 69277032

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA ex rel.
THE CINCINNATI INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant Below/Petitioner,

v.

THE HONORABLE JASON A. CUOMO, JUDGE OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF OHIO COUNTY,

Respondent,

and

GRAE-CON CONSTRUCTION, INC., Plaintiff below/Respondent. (On Original Jurisdiction re: Civil Action No. CC-35-2022-C-166, Circuit Court of Ohio County)

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF OF GRAE-CON CONSTRUCTION, INC.

Counsel for Respondent Grae-Con Construction, Inc.

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

cannot be the case on these facts. As shown in Syllabus Point 1 of <u>In the Interest of Tiffany Marie</u>

<u>S., supra,</u> "clearly erroneous" means the following:

A finding is "clearly erroneous" when, although there is evidence to support the finding, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed. However, a reviewing court may not overturn a finding simply because it would have decided the case differently, and it must affirm a finding if the circuit court's account of the evidence is plausible in light of the record viewed in its entirety.

The Circuit Court's focus on Cincinnati's bad faith denial of liability insurance benefits to Grae-Con here in West Virginia, where Grae-Con faces the very liability that should be covered under the Cincinnati policy, was appropriate and just. It is certainly not "clearly erroneous." Cincinnati's petition for an extraordinary writ should be denied.

IV. A WRIT OF PROHIBITION IS NOT WARRANTED REGARDING THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DENIAL OF CINCINNATI'S MOTION TO DISMISS UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF FORUM NON CONVENIENS

"A circuit court's decision to invoke the doctrine of forum non conveniens will not be reversed unless it is found that the circuit court abused its discretion." Syllabus Point 5, State ex rel. Almond v. Rudolph, supra, citing Syllabus Point 3, Cannelton Indust. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. of America, 194 W. Va. 186, 187, 460 S.E. 2d 1, 2 (1994). And, as noted above, "[a] writ of prohibition will not issue to prevent a simple abuse of discretion by a trial court. It will only issue where the trial court has no jurisdiction or having such jurisdiction exceeds its legitimate powers. W. Va. Code 53-1-1." Syl. pt. 2, State ex rel. Peacher v. Sencindiver, supra. Once again, Cincinnati has an incredibly high burden. Cincinnati only has hope of convincing this Court to issue an extraordinary writ if proves that the Circuit Court's decision regarding the doctrine of forum non conveniens was clear error. And as shown in Syllabus Point 1 of In the Interest of Tiffany Marie S., supra, "clearly erroneous" means the following:

A finding is "clearly erroneous" when, although there is evidence to support the finding, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed. However, a reviewing court may not overturn a finding simply because it would have decided the case differently, and it must affirm a finding if the circuit court's account of the evidence is plausible in light of the record viewed in its entirety.

Moreover, the statute that addresses the doctrine of *forum non conveniens* in West Virginia, W. Va. Code § 56-1-1a, explicitly states that "the plaintiff's choice of forum is *entitled to great deference*." W. Va. Code § 56-1-1a. (emphasis added).

Cincinnati's arguments regarding the various factors outlined in W. Va. Code § 56-1-1a are without merit. Grae-Con will take each in turn:

Regarding the question of whether an alternate forum exists, Cincinnati seems to assume that its competing declaratory judgment action that it filed in its home county of Butler County, Ohio (filed the same day as the instant matter, only approximately six hours earlier) will survive the motion to dismiss that Grae-Con has filed in that court. The Court of Common Pleas of Butler County, Ohio is still considering Grae-Con's motion to dismiss. That court may dismiss for lack of jurisdiction. Even if it finds that it properly has jurisdiction over the dispute, the fact that the instant matter exists presents three options to the Ohio court, according to Ohio law binding on that court:

- Grant a stay in the Ohio action, pending the resolution of the action pending in West Virginia;
- 2. Move forward with the action in Ohio; or
- 3. Dismiss the Ohio action under the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*.

See In re Estate of Rush, 12th Dist. Warren No. CA2013-10-103, 2014-Ohio-3293, ¶ 34; Calvary Industries, Inc. v. Coral Chemical Company, 12th Dist. Butler No. CA2016-12-233, 2017-Ohio-7279, ¶ 17; Calvary Industries, Inc. v. Coral Chemical Company, 12th Dist. Butler No.

CA2018-07-134, 2019-Ohio-1288, ¶ 19; and Walp v. Walp, 3rd Dist. Auglaize No. 2-05-10, 2005-Ohio-4181, ¶¶ 8-11.

As the Circuit Court correctly found, there might not be an alternative forum, because the Court of Common Pleas of Butler County, Ohio may very well dismiss that action, in favor of the instant matter moving forward with the insurance coverage dispute. That was certainly the decision made by the Ohio courts that dealt with the companion matters at issue in State ex rel. Owners Ins. Co. v. McGraw, supra.

Regarding the question of whether maintenance of the instant action will cause a substantial injustice to Cincinnati, the Circuit Court correctly found that Cincinnati has failed to prove that litigating the instant dispute here in West Virginia will cause it to suffer substantial injustice. Cincinnati accuses the Circuit Court of focusing too much on the underlying arbitration when it ought to have focused on the insurance coverage dispute. But such a shift in focus does Cincinnati no favors. Cincinnati is both licensed to do business in West Virginia and an admitted insurance carrier, subject to regulation by the West Virginia Insurance Commissioner. Moreover, its headquarters is a 4-5 hour drive from Wheeling, West Virginia, where the Circuit Court of Ohio County is located. The insurance policy at issue here was issued by Cincinnati to Mohawk at its headquarters in McMurray, Pennsylvania, approximately 44.1 miles from Wheeling. In fact, Wheeling is geographically closer to Cincinnati's headquarters than where its named insured is located. The idea that having to litigate an insurance coverage and bad faith case in Wheeling, West Virginia constitutes a "substantial injustice" to Cincinnati is a notion with no valid basis.

Regarding the question of whether the alternate forum can exercise jurisdiction over all the defendants properly joined to Grae-Con's lawsuit here in West Virginia, the simple fact is that, in the instant action, Grae-Con chose to include in its action both the named insured (Mohawk) and

the third party claimant (OCDA). Both entities have standing to litigate the insurance coverage questions at issue in both the West Virginia and the Ohio lawsuits. However, in the Ohio lawsuit, Cincinnati chose to only sue Grae-Con and Mohawk. There are serious questions as to whether the Ohio court could ever property exercise jurisdiction over either the OCDA, the third party claimant. Why? Because it does not do any business anywhere near the Court of Common Pleas of Butler County, Ohio. In contrast, the instant matter already has jurisdiction over the OCDA. All parties should want the OCDA, the third party claimant, to be bound by the outcome of this matter, because if it is not so bound, it will have the right to file its own action to determine whether Cincinnati must provide liability insurance coverage to Grae-Con. See Syllabus Point 3, Christian v. Sizemore, 181 W. Va. 628, 383 S.E. 2d 810 (1989).

Regarding the question of where Grae-Con's cause of action accrued, Cincinnati continues to assert that the only relevant activity by Cincinnati was the issuance of the insurance policy to Mohawk in the first place. But that is simply not true. To Grae-Con, the most relevant activity by Cincinnati has been Cincinnati's refusal to provide liability insurance benefits to Grae-Con here in West Virginia, where Grae-Con faces liability to the OCDA, where Grae-Con needs a legal defense to the OCDA's arbitration proceeding, and where Grae-Con may someday need to be indemnified against liability to the ODCA.

Regarding the question of the balance of private interests and public interest, Cincinnati's focus is entirely mistaken. The insurance coverage and bad faith dispute between Cincinnati and Grae-Con concerns a construction project in Triadelphia, West Virginia, which is in Ohio County, West Virginia. Grae-Con faces liability to the OCDA (a reminder: the acronym stands for the "Ohio County Development Authority") regarding the construction project in Triadelphia, West Virginia. There is no public interest in this dispute in Butler County, Ohio. There is ample public

interest in this dispute in Ohio County, West Virginia. Regarding the private interests, it should be remembered that the named insured under the insurance policy in question, Mohawk, is located in McMurray, Pennsylvania. Grae-Con is located in Steubenville, Ohio. Both locations are within an hours' drive of Wheeling, West Virginia, where the Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia is located. But both companies' headquarters are approximately 4-5 hours away from Hamilton, Ohio, where the Ohio court in question (the alternative forum) is located. Since the reasonable expectations of the named insured (Mohawk) will likely be at issue in this matter, the witnesses in this matter are likely going to be witnesses from Grae-Con, Mohawk, and Cincinnati. Which is more reasonable: Expecting Cincinnati's witnesses to drive 4-5 hours to Wheeling West Virginia, or expecting both Grae-Con's witnesses and Mohawk's witnesses to drive 4-5 hours to Hamilton, Ohio? The balance of public and private interests make it clear that this dispute is better heard in Wheeling, West Virginia.

Regarding the question of whether not granting a stay or dismissal of the instant action would result in unreasonable duplication or proliferation of litigation, Cincinnati's argument is, to be kind, fanciful. Cincinnati argues that allowing the instant lawsuit to proceed will encourage and embolden litigants to sue insurance companies here in West Virginia, thereby opening the floodgates. This is utter nonsense. The two competing fora at issue here can be fairly described in the following way: Wheeling, West Virginia (location of the Circuit Court of Ohio County) is where the underlying facts of the insurance coverage and bad faith action are centered, and it is where the insured in question, Grae-Con, faces potential liability and needs a legal defense. In contrast, Hamilton, Ohio (location of the Court of Common Pleas of Butler County, Ohio) has the sole relevant characteristic of being the county seat of Cincinnati's home county. The contrast—

where everything relevant really happened, versus where the insurance company likes to file lawsuits—is stark.

Regarding the question of whether the alternate forum provides a remedy, the simple answer is: It might not. As stated above, the Court of Common Pleas of Butler County, Ohio is still considering Grae-Con's motion to dismiss. That court may dismiss for lack of jurisdiction. Even if it finds that it properly has jurisdiction over the dispute, the fact that the instant matter exists presents three options to the Ohio court. That court might stay its case, pending the outcome of the instant matter. It might move forward, regardless of the existence of the instant matter. Or, it might be dismissed, either because of a lack of jurisdiction or in order to defer to the instant matter under the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*. That decision has not been made yet by the Ohio court.

When this Court considers how the Circuit Court addressed all of the above factors, it cannot logically draw the conclusion that the Circuit Court committed clear error. The Circuit Court enjoys great deference in its consideration of these various factors. Its analysis of the above factors was appropriate and just. It was certainly not "clearly erroneous." Cincinnati's petition for an extraordinary writ should be denied.

V. A WRIT OF PROHIBITION IS NOT WARRANTED REGARDING THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DENIAL OF CINCINNATI'S MOTION TO DISMISS DUE TO THE PENDENCY OF CINCINNATI'S LAWSUIT FILED IN BUTLER COUNTY, OHIO

In order to determine the true standard of review regarding the Circuit Court's decision on Cincinnati's theory regarding the pendency of a prior action (i.e., the Butler County, Ohio lawsuit filed by Cincinnati less than six hours prior to the filing of instant lawsuit), it is necessary to look a bit deeper than the case law cited by Cincinnati.

Cincinnati cites Berger v. Berger, 177 W. Va. 58, 350 S.E. 2d 685 (1986), and Morris v. Estate of Morris, 2016 WL 6678988 (W. Va. Nov. 14, 2016), for the proposition that, where there is litigation on the same subject between the same parties pending in another state, the West Virginia court should not consider the matter until the proceedings in the other state are resolved. However, Cincinnati fails to mention that both cases rely upon a specific West Virginia statute as their legal basis for that principle of law: W. Va. Code § 56-6-10, which states:

Whenever it shall be made to appear to any court, or to the judge thereof in vacation, that a stay of proceedings in a case therein pending should be had until the decision of some other action, suit or proceeding in the same or another court, such court or judge shall make an order staying proceedings therein, upon such terms as may be prescribed in the order. But no application for such stay shall be entertained in vacation until reasonable notice thereof has been served upon the opposite party.

According to Syllabus Point 2 of State ex rel. Piper v. Sanders, 228 W. Va. 792, 724 S.E. 2d 763 (2012), which in turn cites Syllabus Point 4 of <u>Dunfee v. Childs</u>, 59 W. Va. 225, 53 S.E. 209 (1906):

A stay of proceedings in a suit provided by [W. Va. Code § 56-6-10 (1923)], rests in the sound discretion of the court. To warrant the stay it must be essential to justice, and it must be that the judgment of decree by the other court will have legal operation and effect in the suit in which the stay is asked, and settle the matter of controversy in it.

So, as with many of the issues addressed above, the Circuit Court enjoys discretion in whether to dismiss (or stay) an action pursuant to the notion that there is a prior pending action in another state. "A writ of prohibition will not issue to prevent a simple abuse of discretion by a trial court. It will only issue where the trial court has no jurisdiction or having such jurisdiction exceeds its legitimate powers. W. Va. Code 53-1-1." Syl. pt. 2, State ex rel. Peacher v. Sencindiver, supra. Yet again, Cincinnati has an incredibly high burden. Cincinnati only has hope of convincing this Court to issue an extraordinary writ if proves that the Circuit Court's decision regarding the existence of a prior pending lawsuit in Ohio was clear error. And as shown in

Syllabus Point 1 of <u>In the Interest of Tiffany Marie S.</u>, <u>supra</u>, "clearly erroneous" means the following:

A finding is "clearly erroneous" when, although there is evidence to support the finding, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed. However, a reviewing court may not overturn a finding simply because it would have decided the case differently, and it must affirm a finding if the circuit court's account of the evidence is plausible in light of the record viewed in its entirety.

There are ample reasons for this Court to find that the Circuit Court did not clearly err in this regard. The Ohio action does not include the OCDA as a party, but the instant matter does. The Ohio action is currently just a declaratory judgment action, whereas the instant matter also addresses Grae-Con's common law and statutory bad faith claims against Cincinnati. There is no guarantee that the Ohio action will survive. As stated above, Grae-Con's motion to dismiss the Ohio action is currently pending. The Ohio court could choose to dismiss that action on either jurisdictional or *forum non conveniens* grounds. Or, it could choose to stay that matter in deference to the instant matter. And it should always be remembered that the Ohio action is not years, months, weeks, or even days older than the instant matter. It is less than six hours older than the instant matter. Against the backdrop of uncertainty about the Ohio action, and the limitations of the scope of that action (both in terms of causes of action and bound parties), it was entirely reasonable for the Circuit Court to refrain from issuing an order dismissing the instant matter due to the pendency of a prior action.

When this Court considers how the Circuit Court ruled on this issue, it cannot logically draw the conclusion that the Circuit Court committed clear error. Cincinnati's petition for an extraordinary writ should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Grae-Con asks this Court to deny the writ of prohibition sought by Cincinnati.